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Wheat Row consists of four attached, three-story brick houses built as a unit
in the late eighteenth century. They are located in Southwest Washington in
an area which was almost totally cleared in the late 1950's and early 1960's
during urban renewal. Today the row is a part of Harbour Square Co-Operative
Apartments, a complex of townhouses and highrise buildings erected in 1964-
66. The Duncanson-Cranch House and the Edward Simon Lewis House are the
other historic buildings which are part of Harbour Square.

The building has a full basement with stone walls., The rest of the walls are
brick laid in Flemish bond, except the north wall. This wall is unusual as
it is partially laid in English bond and is believed to be the only instance
of such bonding in an older building in Washington.

The rectangular buildiag with low hipped roof is approximately 102-1/2' by
34', The longer sides have twelve bays, Each of the four houses is three
bays wide and the two central houses are slightly narrower than the corner
houses. The main (east) facade has a four bay wide, slightly projecting
central pavilion. This symmetrical, late Georgian facade does not reflect
the internal arrangement of space, The pediment of the pavilion crosses
party walls as the pavilion contains two bays of two houses. The standing
seam metal roof carries two double chimmneys. Originally the south facade
of the building had three bays and the north end had no openings. Today
three story townhouses erected in 1964-66 are attached at the north and
south ends.

On the east and west facades (and originally on the south facade) belt coursegd
pf four rows of headers separate the first and second stories and the second
and third stories, There is a wooden fretwork cornice. On the main facade

g stone band separates the pediment from the third story. Two large chimneys

mark the location of the party walls between the end houses and the two center
houses.

Vindows, except those of the basement, have stone sills and stone lintels with
voussoirs and keystones., The elliptical window in the pediment of the main
facade has stone facing. The window sash dates from the 1964-66 rehabilita-~
tion. Basement windows, which are not visible from the street as they open
on to a trench bound by a simple metal fence, have 6/6-lights and brick
arches. First and second story windows have 9/9-lights. The lower third
story has 6/3-light windows.

There are four doorways on the east facade, two located in the corner bays
and two located in the center bays. These doorways have semicircular fan-
lights under brick arches., Sometime prior to the 1964-66 rehabilitation the
entrance at 1317 Fourth Street was altered so that it had a flat, brick,
jack arch imitating the stone arches of the windows. This arch was removed
and replaced by a semicircular brickagreh during the rehabilitation. Beside
each entrance are modern, globe lighting fixtures.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFIGANCE

The Joint Committee on Landmarks has designated Wheat Row at 1315-1321
Fourth Street, S.W., a Category II Landmark of importance which contributes
significantly to the cultural heritage and visual beauty of the District of
Columbia. The four attached houses are probably the first speculative
housing erected after Washington was chosen as the seat of governments

They were built by the Greenleaf Syndicate about 1794 and their design is
attributed to the architect~builder, William Lovering.

Daniel Reiff, an architectural historian, believes that Wheat Row's design
is similar to that of earlier Georgian buildings with central pedimented
pavilions, such as Hollis Hall at HarvardUniversity built in 1762-63, and
that in 1794 this was '"a somewhat backward style." The building is an
important example of conservative, vernacular domestic architecture con-
structed in Washington in the Federal Period.

James Greenleaf was the United States Consul in Amsterdam when he visited
Washington in 1793. He purchased 3,000 lots in the new city, but later in’
the year relinquished his lots and with Robert Morris and John Nicholson
purchased 6,000 lots. These three men, known as the Greenleaf Syndicate,
controled one-third of the saleable land in Washington. They were required
by the Commissioners to build twenty houses a year for seven years in order
to receive title to the property. Wheat Row, the Thomas Law House, and the
Duncanson~Cranch House were among the first houses built by the syndicate.

The name, "Wheat Row," is derived from a nineteenth century owner, John
Wheat., Wheat lived at and owned 1315 Fourth Street as early as 1819 and in
1844 left 1315, 1319, and 1321 Fourth Street to his wife, Mary. Wheat was
listed in the 1830 Washington Directory as a gardener and in 1834 he was
listed as a Senate messenger. Members of the Wheat family owned part of
the row until at least 1868,

Other owners of Wheat Row houses in 1819 include Robert P. Washington, owner
of 1317 Fourth Street; Richmond Johnson, owner of 1319 Fourth Street; and
Thomas L. Washington and Philip Stuart, owners of 1321 Fourth Street, By
1824 Stuart was sole owner of 1321 and was part owner with Johnson of 1319
Fourth Street. Stuart is not listed in the Washington directory of 1822 but
in 1830 a "Gen. Philip Stewart' probably resided at Wheat Row. It is pro-

bable that "Stewart" and "Stuart" are the same person. Stuart (1760-1830)
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7. Description ~ Wheat Row

Wheat Row's walls and trim are now painted light gray in order to blend in
with the new townhouses. The building was a more effective design when its
white stone trim contrasted with its red brick walls.

The four houses have typical Federal townhouse plans with side halls with staird
and two rooms on each floor. These plans have been slightly modified to
accommodate modern conveniences,

8. Significance

served in the Revolutionary Army, but probably never obtained a rank higher
than lieutenant. From 1811 to 1819 he was a congressional representative from
Maryland. He died on August 14, 1830, in Washington, Richmond Johnson pro-
bably lived in the Wheat Row house he owned in 1822 when he was a receiving
teller in the Branch Bank., By 1830 he had moved and had changed jobs and was
a clerk in the surgeon general's office. The Washingtons are not listed in
city directories for 1822, 1830, or 1834 and probably did not reside at Wheat
Row., A study of George Washington's genealogy shows no relation of these men
to him,

The Wheat Row houses served primarily residential functions until 1939 when
John Neligh, the director of industrial crafts at Barney Neighborhood House,
left 1315 Fourth Street to Barney Neighborhood House, a community service
organization. The house was then used as the U,S. Service Men's Club., In 1941
Barney Neighborhood House received another Wheat Row property, 1319 Fourth
Street. By 1950 the organization owned 1317 Fourth Street as well, 1317 and
1315 Fourth Street were used as residences, while 1819 Fourth Street housed a
day nursery. In 1950, 1321 Fourth Street was owned by Floyd Bohman and con~
tained apartments,

In 1964-66 Wheat Row was rehabilitated as a part of Harbour Square, an urban

renewal housing project designed by Mrs, Chloethiel Smith. The 1794 building
now serves its original function as four dwelling houses.
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